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DECISION 


The State Board of Accountancy (“the Board”) has cause to discipline Thomas W. Steelman, Sr.’s lifetime certificate to practice accountancy because he committed criminal offenses; demonstrated incompetency; engaged in misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, and dishonesty; violated professional trust; and failed to maintain the good moral character required for certification.  

Procedure


The Board filed a complaint on March 16, 2005, seeking this Commission’s determination that Steelman’s certificate is subject to discipline.  Though Steelman was served with a copy of the complaint and notice of hearing by personal service on February 15, 2006, he did not file an answer to the complaint.  

This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on July 6, 2006.  Assistant Attorney General Glen D. Webb represented the Board.  Neither Steelman nor anyone representing him appeared.  

The matter became ready for our decision on September 6, 2006, when Steelman’s brief was due.  
Findings of Fact

1. On July 20, 1978, the Board issued Steelman a lifetime certificate to practice accountancy.  
2. Steelman was in the profession of preparing income tax returns at his business, A & T, Inc., located in Independence, Missouri.
3. Renaissance, the Tax People, Inc. (“Renaissance”) was formerly known as Renaissance Designer Gallery Products, Inc., and Advantage International Marketing (“AIM”).
4. Renaissance was a corporation registered in the State of Nevada, and its headquarters was located in Topeka, Kansas.
5. Renaissance was a multilevel marketing company that purportedly specialized in the sales and service of home-based business packages involving tax strategies and tax services.
6. As part of the home-based business packages, Renaissance offered tax support to its members in the form of tax return preparation, tax advice, and “audit protection.”  Renaissance mailed promotional materials to, and received payments from, clients using the United States mails, and by using private and commercial interstate carriers.  Renaissance sent promotional materials to, and received payments from, clients using electronic mail and facsimile throughout the United States.
7. Steelman and his co-conspirators defrauded Renaissance clients of more than $100,000,000 through the use of the mails and wires to communicate false, fraudulent and misleading representations.
8. Renaissance and Steelman used the fact that Steelman was a retired Internal Revenue Service revenue agent to overcome objections and questions regarding the Renaissance tax program from Renaissance clients and prospective clients. 
9. Steelman participated in promotional meetings, conferences, rallies, and telephone conference calls from Renaissance, as well as promoting Renaissance and recruiting clients through his businesses: A & T, Inc.; A & Tl, LLC; A & T5; C & C3; C & C4, Inc.; C & C5, Inc.; New Trends, Inc.; S & M3, Inc.; and S & M4, Inc.
10. Steelman was one of the featured speakers on the promotional videotapes distributed by Renaissance. 
11. Steelman was one of the hosts of the W-4 Conference Calls in which Renaissance clients would telephone a toll number and receive guidance on the number of exemptions to claim on the clients’ Forms W-4.
12. Renaissance clients, in reliance upon the guidance received from Steelman and others, claimed excessively high Form W-4 exemptions, in part by using the W-4 Exemption Increase Estimator created by Steelman’s co-conspirators, subsequently resulting in the clients having too little tax withheld and owing substantial federal income tax at the end of the year.
13. On or about November 1997, Steelman and his co-conspirators authored the Tax Advantage System.
14. In May or June of 2000, during a telephone call with a prospective Renaissance client, Steelman stated that he was a retired Internal Revenue Service revenue agent with 20-plus 
years of experience, and he falsely represented that Renaissance had numerous experts review the program and that they found no problems with the marketing plan.  
15. Steelman prepared false and fraudulent federal income tax returns that overstated Schedule C losses, resulting in a tax loss for sentencing purposes in excess of $120,000.
16. On or about April 6, 1998, Steelman prepared an amended 1994 federal income tax return, Form 1040X, for Larry Johnson, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on his Schedule C by $15,871.  
17. On or about February 5, 1999, Steelman prepared an amended 1996 federal income tax return, Form 1040X, for Linda and David Hutsler, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on their Schedule C by $4,334.  
18. On or about February 5, 1999, Steelman prepared a 1998 federal income tax return, Form 1040, for Linda and David Hutsler, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on their Schedule C by $21,467.
19. On or about February 24, 1999, Steelman prepared a 1998 federal income tax return, Form 1040, for Michael and Deanna Sartain, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on their Schedule C by $9,709.
20. On or about April 5, 1999, Steelman prepared a 1998 federal income tax return, Form 1040, for Rick Hollinger, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on his Schedule C by $6,454.
21. On or about January 14, 2000, Steelman prepared an amended 1996 federal income tax return, Form 1040X, for Linda and David Hutsler, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on their Schedule C by $7,099.
22. On or about April 1, 2000, Steelman prepared a 1999 federal income tax return, Form 1040, for Phillip and Leslie Achey, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on their Schedule C by $36,546.
23. On or about April 7, 2000, Steelman prepared a 1999 federal income tax return, Form 1040, for Rick Hollinger, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on his Schedule C by $22,421.
24. On or about April 26, 2000, Steelman prepared a 1999 federal income tax return, Form 1040, for Michael and Deanna Sartain, that was false and fraudulent in that it overstated losses on their Schedule C by $15,727.
25. Throughout the duration of the conspiracy, Steelman prepared the federal income tax returns mentioned above, as well as numerous others, in an effort to make the income tax due and owing the Internal Revenue Service the same as, or less than, the amount of income tax withheld from the respective taxpayer’s wages and applicable tax credits.  The withholdings were less than they should have been due to the increased number of exemptions recommended by the W-4 Estimator promoted by Steelman and Renaissance. 
26. These false and fraudulent federal income tax returns prepared by Steelman throughout the duration of the conspiracy that are mentioned above either falsely inflated or falsely created Schedule C business deductions that converted personal living expenses of the respective taxpayer into “business deductions” and resulted in less income tax being paid to the Internal Revenue Service, which was in violation of the Internal Revenue Code.  
27. Steelman counseled co-conspirators and Renaissance clients to file amended federal income tax returns within sixty days of the Internal Revenue Service statute of limitations expiration dates in an attempt to impede and impair the Internal Revenue Service by preventing and hindering the examination and auditing of fraudulent returns. 
28. On or about July 4, 2000, one of Steelman’s co-conspirators directed that an automobile loan to a family member of the coconspirator be shown as paid off, and that corporate records reflect that Renaissance sold the automobile for the amount that the coconspirator’s family member had paid Renaissance to that date. 
29. On or about October 16, 2000, one of Steelman’s co-conspirators sent an e-mail to the clients of Renaissance falsely asserting that:


There existed written endorsements from “over 2,000 tax attorneys, enrolled agents and CPAs that every strategy contained in the Tax Relief System is absolutely sound, unassailable and proven over the past 40 years;” and

“The training offered by Renaissance, the Tax People, through the Tax Relief System and ATPN network was approved for continuing education credit for CPAs in all 50 states.”

30.
On April 5, 2002, the United States Attorney filed an information in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas
 charging that Steelman committed the following offenses:

Count 1:  
a. Defrauding the Internal Revenue Service by impeding, impairing, obstructing, and defeating the lawful government functions of the Internal Revenue Service, an agency of the United States, in the ascertainment, computation, assessment and collection of revenue, that is, federal individual and corporate income taxes, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371; 
b. Mail fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1341; and

c. Wire fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 1343.

Counts 2 through 10:  

Willfully aiding and assisting in the preparation of false and fraudulent income tax returns, in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).

On or about April 12, 2002, Steelman pled guilty to all ten counts.  
Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear this matter.
  The Board has the burden of proving facts for which the law allows the Board to discipline Steelman.

The Board relies on court records and on the request for admissions that it served on Steelman on April 27, 2006, to which Steelman did not respond.  The failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters in the request conclusively.
  The party making the request is entitled to rely upon the facts asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact, or “application of the facts to the law, or the truth of the ultimate issue, or opinion or conclusion, so long as the opinion called for is not on abstract propositions of law.”
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.

Nevertheless, for licensing cases, the General Assembly and the courts instruct that we must:

make an independent assessment of the facts to determine whether cause for disciplining a licensee exists. . . .  But this impartiality would be compromised if the determination of cause was not a separately and independently arrived at determination by the Hearing Commission.[
] 

Therefore, even where the law deems Steelman to have admitted that he is subject to discipline, we must still arrive at that determination independently.
Missouri Accountancy Act


Effective August 28, 2001, the General Assembly repealed the laws relating to the State Board of Accountancy, §§ 326.011 to 326.230 (“the prior law”), and enacted §§ 326.250 to 
326.331, the “Missouri Accountancy Act” (“the present law”).
  Under the prior law, the Board issued a “certificate of certified public accountant” to those qualifying under § 326.060, RSMo 2000.  The present law defines a “CPA” as one who holds a certificate or license as defined in 

§ 326.256.
  A “certificate” is “a certificate issued pursuant to section 326.060 prior to August 28, 2001[.]”
  A license is “a license issued pursuant to section 326.280 [of the present law.]”
  Section 326.280 of the present law sets forth the same qualifications for a license as § 326.060 did for a certificate under the prior law, that is, qualifications relating to residency, age, good moral character, and examinations.  


Section 326.310.2 authorizes the Board to file complaints against “any certified public accountant,” which § 326.256.1(4) and (5) define as including certificate holders, such as Steelman.  The Board contends that it may discipline Steelman for the following causes under 

§ 326.310.2:


(2) The person has . . . entered a plea of guilty . . . in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state . . . for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;
*   *   *


(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter; 

*   *   * 

(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence; 
*   *   *


(19) Failure, on the part of a holder of a certificate, license or permit pursuant to section 326.280 or 326.289, to maintain compliance with the requirements for issuance or renewal of such certificate, license, permit or provisional license or to report changes to the board pursuant to sections 326.280 to 326.289[.]  

Criminal Offenses

18 U.S.C. § 1341 defines the federal crime of mail fraud: 
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, security, or other article, or anything represented to be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in any post office or authorized depository for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by the Postal Service, or deposits or causes to be deposited any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by any private or commercial interstate carrier, or takes or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail or such carrier according to the direction thereon, or at the place at which it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both. 
18 U.S.C. § 1343 defines the federal crime of wire fraud:
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both.  If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.
18 U.S.C. § 371 defines the crime of conspiracy to commit an offense against or defraud the United States: 

If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both. 
If, however, the offense, the commission of which is the object of the conspiracy, is a misdemeanor only, the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed the maximum punishment provided for such misdemeanor. 
26 U.S.C. § 7206(2) defines the crime of aiding and assisting in the preparation of 

fraudulent federal income tax returns:  

Any person who—

*   *   *

(2) Aid or assistance.--Willfully aids or assists in, or procures, counsels, or advises the preparation or presentation under, or in connection with any matter arising under, the internal revenue laws, of a return, affidavit, claim, or other document, which is fraudulent or is false as to any material matter, whether or not such falsity or fraud is with the knowledge or consent of the person authorized or required to present such return, affidavit, claim, or document; 
*   *   *

shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than $100,000 ($500,000 in the case of a corporation), or imprisoned not more than 3 years, or both, together with the costs of prosecution.
A qualification for being granted what is now called a CPA license is that the person be “of good moral character.”  Section 326.280.1(3).  Section 326.060.1(3), RSMo Supp. 1977, made good moral character a qualification for a certificate when the Board issued Steelman his certificate in 1978.  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the 
rights of others.
  The seriousness and extent of these offenses indicates a lack of good moral character.  We find that all of the offenses are reasonably related to the qualifications of an accountant in that an accountant must be of good moral character.
  The crime of aiding and assisting in the preparation of false and fraudulent income tax returns is also reasonably related to the functions and duties of the accounting profession.  

An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.
  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Moral turpitude is: 
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

We conclude that conspiracy to commit mail fraud and conspiracy to commit wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371, 1341, and 1343, are offenses an essential element of which is dishonesty, and also involve moral turpitude.  Even though fraud is an essential element of the crimes of mail fraud and wire fraud, it is not necessarily an essential element of a conspiracy to commit those offenses.  

Steelman also pled guilty to a conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, in that he conspired to defraud the United States by impeding the IRS in the collection of income taxes.  As 
to that crime, however, the information charged only a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, and no other statute.  We examine the elements of the criminal statute, and not the actual conduct of the defendant, to determine whether fraud and dishonesty are essential elements.  18 U.S.C. § 371 defines the crime of conspiracy to commit an offense against or to defraud the United States.  “The statute’s first sentence has always been read in the disjunctive to create a crime of conspiracy to commit an ‘offense’ against the United States that is to be distinguished from the crime of conspiracy to ‘defraud’ the government.”
  While fraud and dishonesty would be essential elements of the crime of conspiracy to defraud the government, in the United States Code there are many offenses against the United States that do not involve fraud or dishonesty.  Therefore, a conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. § 371 is not a crime an essential element of which is fraud or dishonesty.  

We conclude that the crime of assisting in the preparation of fraudulent tax returns, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2), is an offense an essential element of which is fraud and dishonesty.  In In re MacLeod, 479 S.W.2d 443 (Mo. banc 1972), the court found that the crime of willingly and knowingly failing to file a federal income tax return was a crime involving moral turpitude.  Assisting in the preparation of fraudulent returns is even more so.  We find cause for discipline under § 335.066.2(2).
Incompetency, Misconduct, Gross Negligence, 

Fraud, Misrepresentation, or Dishonesty

The Board argues that Steelman’s underlying conduct constitutes incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation, and/or dishonesty.  Competence, when referring to occupation, is the “actual ability of a person to perform in that occupation.”
  The 
courts have also defined that term as a licensee’s general lack of present ability, or lack of a disposition to use his otherwise sufficient present ability, to perform a given duty.
  Gross negligence is “an act or course of conduct which demonstrates a conscious indifference to a professional duty” and that indifference constitutes “a gross deviation from the standard of care which a reasonable person would exercise in the situation.”
  Misconduct is defined as “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”
  The mental states for gross negligence and misconduct are mutually exclusive.  Misrepresentation is falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.

We have already concluded that the crime of assisting in the preparation of false income tax returns necessarily involves fraud and dishonesty, and we have made findings of fact that Steelman committed that conduct.  Fraud encompasses misrepresentation.  Steelman also falsely represented that Renaissance had numerous experts review the program and that they found no problems with the marketing plan.  Steelman’s certificate is subject to discipline for fraud, dishonesty, and misrepresentation in the course of the functions and duties of the profession.  

Some of the misrepresentations that the Board alleges were by Steelman’s co-conspirators.  However, Steelman was actively involved in the conspiracy, using wire fraud and mail fraud, and he himself was guilty of fraud, dishonesty and misrepresentation.  Steelman’s wrongdoing was intentional rather than gross negligence.  Therefore, his certificate is subject to discipline for misconduct.  
By engaging in a course of wrongdoing in the functions and duties of his profession, Steelman displayed a lack of a disposition to use his abilities to perform his duties ethically.  Steelman gave advice that resulted in clients having too little tax withheld and owing substantial federal income tax at the end of the year.  He prepared false and fraudulent income tax returns in violation of the Internal Revenue Code.  Steelman’s certificate is subject to discipline for incompetency.  We find cause to discipline Steelman’s certificate under § 326.310.2(5).  
Professional Trust

Professional trust is the reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.
  By preparing false and fraudulent federal income tax returns and giving advice that resulted in insufficient tax withholdings, Steelman violated the trust that his clients placed in him.  His certificate is subject to discipline under § 326.310.2(13).  
Failure to Maintain Good Moral Character
Steelman’s criminal offenses and unethical conduct are inimical to good moral character.  Steelman failed to maintain compliance with the requirement that § 329.280.1(3) imposes for the issuance of a CPA license.  Therefore, § 329.310.2(19) provides cause to discipline Steelman.

Summary


Steelman’s certificate is subject to discipline under § 326.310.2(2), (5), (13) and (19).

SO ORDERED on December 15, 2006.
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